
Regular Council Meeting – February 19, 2014 
Page 1 of 8 
 
  
 

CITY OF TAVARES 1 
MINUTES OF REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 2 

FEBRUARY 19, 2014 3 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 4 

4:00 p.m. 5 
 6 

COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT     ABSENT 7 
 8 

Robert Wolfe, Mayor         9 
Lori Pfister, Vice Mayor 10 
Kirby Smith, Councilmember 11 
Robert Speaks, Councilmember 12 
Norman Hope, Councilmember  13 
 14 
STAFF PRESENT 15 
 16 
John Drury, City Administrator 17 
Robert Q. Williams, City Attorney 18 
Nancy Barnett, City Clerk 19 
Brad Hayes, Utility Director 20 
Lori Houghton, Finance Director 21 
Chris Thompson, Public Works Director 22 
Joyce Ross, Communications Director 23 
Bill Neron, Economic Development Director 24 
Lori Tucker, Human Resources Director 25 
Tammey Rogers, Community Services Director 26 
Richard Keith, Fire Department 27 
Brad Hayes, Utility Director 28 
 29 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 30 
 31 
Mayor Wolfe called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.  32 
 33 
II. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 34 
 35 
Jacob Roberts, Youth Pastor, Liberty Baptist Church, gave the invocation and those present 36 
recited the pledge of allegiance. 37 
 38 
lll. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 39 
 40 
Mayor Wolfe asked for any changes to the agenda.  41 
 42 
MOTION 43 
 44 
Kirby Smith moved to approve the agenda, seconded by Norman Hope. The motion carried 45 
unanimously 5-0. 46 
 47 



Regular Council Meeting – February 19, 2014 
Page 2 of 8 
 
  
 
 1 
lV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES   2 
 3 
Tab 1) Approval of Minutes – February 5, 2014 4 
 5 
Robert Speaks moved to approve the City Council Minutes of February 5, 2014, seconded 6 
by Kirby Smith. The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 7 
 8 
V. PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS 9 
 10 
Tab 2) Lake County School System – Bill Gates Foundation Grant 11 
 12 
Mr. Drury introduced Brian Payne and Chris Patton. Mr. Patton said Lake County was one of four 13 
districts across the nation that was awarded the grant. The title of the Grant is “Spending Money 14 
Smartly.” The focus is to look within the budget to find dollars that can be applied back to the 15 
classroom to improve student achievement. 16 
 17 
Brian Payne stated the key goal is developing C2 (college and career) ready students. The four 18 
instructional priorities will drive the work:  compensation and staffing; professional development; 19 
technology; and teaching learning. He said it is not a linear process and there have been 20 
interviews with staff, teachers, and the community. He said one of the greatest attributes is the 21 
level of engagement that has taken place (over 70 working groups). During the process two 22 
additional instruction priorities have been established:  funding programs aimed at closing the 23 
achievement gap with English language learner students and injecting additional resources for 24 
struggling students in schools. He said there is an established three year strategic finance plan 25 
based on the first two phases of the entire plan. 26 
 27 
Mr. Patton said there will be changes in the local schools to help with reallocating money into the 28 
classroom. One of the biggest changes is the high school schedule. The schedule will change to 29 
a six out of seven schedule which will assist in saving money. Mr. Patton said he would like to 30 
give an update in the next quarter on the Tavares schools. 31 
 32 
Council expressed appreciation for the presentation and indicated they would like to receive 33 
future updates. 34 
 35 
Vl. SWEARING IN BY CITY ATTORNEY AND DISCLOSURE OF EX PARTE CONTACTS 36 
 37 
None 38 
 39 
Vll. READING OF ALL ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS 40 
 41 
Vlll CONSENT AGENDA 42 
 43 
Mayor Wolfe asked if anyone in the audience opposed Tab 3 or 4 on the Consent Agenda. 44 
 45 
MOTION 46 
 47 



Regular Council Meeting – February 19, 2014 
Page 3 of 8 
 
  
 
Kirby Smith moved to approve the Consent Agenda [CDBG Agreement for Restrooms at 1 
Ingraham Park and Request for Sponsorship to Advertise City Events on Radio during 2 
High School Basketball and Baseball Season 2014], seconded by Robert Speaks. The 3 
motion carried unanimously 5-0. 4 
 5 
lX. ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS 6 
 7 
X. GENERAL GOVERNMENT 8 
 9 
Tab 5) Broad Budget Priorities for Fiscal Year 2014-2015 10 
 11 
Mr. Drury stated this is the kick off process for the FY 2015 budget planning process. He said 12 
after Council has shared their broad budget priorities he will meet with staff and the budget 13 
analyst to implement the broad budget priorities through the zero based budgeting initiative. 14 
 15 
Mr. Drury reviewed the seven areas within the budget:  General Government; Utilities Enterprise; 16 
Garbage Collection Enterprise; Seaplane and Marina Enterprise; Pavilion on the Lake; Capital 17 
Projects and the debt service which funds the current projects. He noted Exhibit A discussed the 18 
economic conditions and process taken by Tavares to invest in itself. He noted the economic 19 
investment done by the private sector has been an interesting process. 20 
 21 
He said every five years the city does a rate analysis. Currently for utilities the City utilizes a CPI 22 
plus 1% to fund the natural growth and cost of delivering the services and has an adequate 23 
capital replacement program. For garbage collection the city has adopted a CPI. The Seaplane 24 
Base and Marina Enterprise has the goal of becoming self sufficient within five years. The 25 
Pavilion on the Lake will be opening up in June. Staff will adjust the Capital Improvement program 26 
based on Council’s priorities. 27 
 28 
Mr. Drury invited Council to provide their broad based budget and goals. 29 
  30 
Norman Hope 31 
 32 

 Maintain the same level of services 33 
 Compensation for the employees in some amount of raise (to be determined by the 34 

financial data that comes in) 35 
 Address parking problem for pavilion (possible relocation of public works) 36 

 37 
Kirby Smith 38 
 39 

 Maintain similar level of service 40 
 Reduce millage rate and increase reserves 41 

 42 
Robert Speaks 43 
 44 

 Agreed with previous comments 45 
 Funding for streets and roads (long range plan to repair streets) 46 
 Maintain level of service 47 



Regular Council Meeting – February 19, 2014 
Page 4 of 8 
 
  
 

 Proper compensation for employees with proper benefits (consider other insurance 1 
opportunities) 2 

 Maximum revenues and look at debt structure 3 
 Increase in reserves 4 

 5 
Vice Mayor Pfister 6 
 7 

 Agree with previous comments – question reduction of millage rate but do not want to 8 
raise 9 

 Consider other departments’ budgets, e.g. library (staff; children’s department).  10 
 Compensation for employees 11 

 12 
Mayor Wolfe 13 
 14 

 Maintain similar level of service 15 
 Public Works facility 16 
 Difficult to cut back the millage but will depend on the property appraiser’s data 17 
 Road project department has been put in the budget before but has had to be taken out. 18 

He noted there is a list of streets rated by condition and the city has gotten some of them 19 
done but it is dependent on the budget 20 

 21 
Tab 7) Authorization to Execute a Letter of Intent for Lease of City Property at Wooton 22 
Park  23 
 24 
Mr. Neron reported that the Antique Boat Museum [ABM] located in Clayton, New York currently 25 
houses 320 vintage boats on a signature campus encompassing 10 buildings, 60,000 square feet 26 
of exhibit and program space and has a 20,000 square foot warehouse storage facility. He stated 27 
the museum is recognized as the premier fresh water natural museum in North America. He said 28 
as part of their five year strategic plan they are trying to locate one or two satellite facilities. Due 29 
to the strong presence of antique boaters through the Sunnyland Chapter, the city has had 30 
discussions with them about entering into a lease for the trailhead facility and picnic pavilion. It 31 
would be a 10 year lease with additional option periods. The ABM would be required to invest 32 
significant dollars to upgrade those facilities to first class museum quality. Throughout the 33 
process the city would have full architectural and plans control and any improvements would have 34 
to be approved by Council. 35 
 36 
Mr. Neron said staff estimates that the improvement would probably require $300,000 to 37 
$500,000. He said the letter of intent is structured intro three sessions: an initial feasibility study; 38 
entering into a full lease after the feasibility study; and a design period and a construction period. 39 
He stressed that Council would be in full control over the facilities and design. 40 
 41 
Mr. Neron said this facility will add another destination aspect to the downtown. Staff 42 
recommends approval with one change in the agreement that the City Attorney is addressing in 43 
terms of the entity that will be signing it on behalf of the museum. 44 
 45 



Regular Council Meeting – February 19, 2014 
Page 5 of 8 
 
  
 
Councilmember Smith asked when the $80,000 will be provided. Mr. Neron said that will be done 1 
when the plans are approved and they take possession of the pavilion or the trailhead building. 2 
He said in the Wooton Park expansion budget, funds are set aside for restrooms and a storage 3 
facility. These additional funds could add a picnic pavilion and replace the pavilion that would be 4 
lost. 5 
 6 
Councilmember Smith requested that the pavilion remain open to the public up until the time 7 
construction begins and a new pavilion is either near completion or completed by the time that 8 
pavilion is no longer available to the public. He said he also wanted the new pavilion to be the 9 
same as the old with the indoor grills. 10 
 11 
Councilmember Hope reiterated that he had wanted the new pavilion to be done before or 12 
simultaneously. He said he thought this would be another attraction to bring more people to 13 
Tavares. 14 
 15 
Mr. Neron said it will be a tight time period but staff would do everything it can to minimize the 16 
impacts. 17 
 18 
Councilmember Speaks asked if any other locations had been considered. Mr. Neron said no 19 
other locations were considered as the society requested the waterfront location. Councilmember 20 
Speaks inquired if there would be any effect on the covenants of the park. Attorney Williams 21 
answered that it would have no effect. Councilmember Speaks asked how many jobs it will bring. 22 
Mr. Neron said there would probably be only one or two jobs but the real economic impact will be 23 
bringing new visitors to downtown Tavares. 24 
 25 
Mr. Drury said one of the challenges has been getting retail to Tavares. He said this will begin a 26 
shift of focusing more on the retail. 27 
 28 
Vice Mayor Pfister spoke in support of the museum noting that it would contribute to her goal of 29 
having more cultural activities in the downtown. 30 
 31 
Mayor Wolfe spoke in support. He said in terms of the time frame; once a contract is signed and 32 
the payment is made, he felt the city should consider borrowing from reserves if needed to finish 33 
the one pavilion before the other one is completed so as not to hold up construction. 34 
 35 
Mr. Drury said staff’s goal is to have the new pavilion up and operational before the other one is 36 
available. 37 
 38 
Councilmember Speaks asked if Rails to Trails is still active. Mr. Drury said the trailhead will be 39 
part of the new picnic pavilion. 40 
                                                    41 
MOTION 42 
 43 
Kirby Smith moved to approve Option #1 to allow the Economic Development Director to 44 
send a letter of intent, seconded by Norman Hope. The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 45 
 46 
Tab 8) Authorization to Sell Surplus Vehicle 47 



Regular Council Meeting – February 19, 2014 
Page 6 of 8 
 
  
 
 1 
Ms. Houghton reported that the city currently has five vehicles that have been identified as 2 
surplus property for various reasons. Florida Statute requires that Council approve the sale. 3 
 4 
Councilmember Speaks asked about the police vehicles being replaced. Ms. Houghton said Chief 5 
Lubins, Mr. Thompson and the Fleet Manager will discuss how the vehicles can be rotated to 6 
another function or department. Those that are too costly to be repaired will be brought back to 7 
Council. 8 
 9 
MOTION 10 
 11 
Norman Hope moved to approve Option #1 [approve the attached listing of surplus items 12 
and authorize staff to offer these items for sale through an online auction], seconded by 13 
Kirby Smith. The motion carried unanimously 5-0. 14 
 15 
Xl. OLD BUSINESS 16 
 17 
Xll. NEW BUSINESS 18 
 19 
Xlll. AUDIENCE TO BE HEARD   20 
 21 
Mayor Wolfe asked for public comment for anything not on the agenda. 22 
 23 
XlV. REPORTS 24 
 25 
Tab 14) City Administrator 26 
 27 
Mr. Drury referred to his list of meetings and events coming up. He then discussed the upcoming 28 
gas tax. 29 
 30 
Gas Tax 31 
 32 
Mr. Drury said he and Councilmember Speaks attended a meeting on the two cents gas tax 33 
reauthorization. He said there are some winners and some losers in terms of the four formulas 34 
being considered. The County gets about 66% of the gas tax and the cities get the remainder. 35 
The issue that is being discussed is how the 14 cities will split the 33% for transportation related 36 
issues. He said there is a state statute that addresses the options. He said there will be about 37 
four options presented. All of the options are not highly variable for the City of Tavares. He said 38 
Councilmember Speaks will be participating in the committee that will work with the county over 39 
the next 60 days to come up with a formula. The County will be asking each City Council to vote 40 
on a formula. If 51% of the population of the cities represented by their councils can agree on a 41 
formula, that will be the formula that will be applied for the next 20+ years. If the councils cannot 42 
agree on a formula, it goes to state statute. 43 
 44 
Councilmember Speaks said the state statute would also benefit Tavares 45 
 46 



Regular Council Meeting – February 19, 2014 
Page 7 of 8 
 
  
 
Mr. Drury said he and the mayor were in Tallahassee for the last two days. He said Lake County 1 
was well represented and they were able to meet with the legislators. He said the city has applied 2 
for a CBIR grant for 1.2 million for lowering TMDL’s in the lakes. He said staff is hopeful about 3 
continuing to amass the 8 million needed to re-do the stormwater system. 4 
 5 
Mayor Wolfe said by speaking to the different representatives and senators they seem positive 6 
about the projects in Tavares. 7 
 8 
City Clerk 9 
 10 
Human Resources 11 
 12 
Economic Development 13 
 14 
Public Works 15 
 16 
Utility Department 17 
 18 
Police Department 19 
 20 
Community Services 21 
 22 
Ms. Rogers said the city is forming a Dragonboat Team and Philip Clark is in charge. He said 23 
March 1st is opening day at Fred Stover. 24 
 25 
Fire Department 26 
 27 
Community Development 28 
 29 
Finance Department 30 
 31 
City Attorney 32 
 33 
Tab 15) City Council 34 
 35 
Vice Mayor Pfister 36 
 37 
Councilmember Hope 38 
 39 
Councilmember Hope thanked the individual from the Sunnyland Boat Chapter and Mr. Neron for 40 
bringing the museum project to the City. 41 
 42 
Lou Ronca stated he is a local resident and also past President of the Sunnyland Chapter. He 43 
expressed appreciation on behalf of the Antique Boat Museum as well as Sunnyland. He said 44 
with the approval of the letter of intent this will take the project forward. 45 
 46 
Councilmember Speaks 47 



Regular Council Meeting – February 19, 2014 
Page 8 of 8 
 
  
 
 1 
Councilmember Speaks reminded everyone that the Chamber of Commerce is putting on a golf 2 
tournament on Friday March 14th at 8:30 a.m. at Arlington Ridge. He thanked Ms. Rogers for the 3 
opportunity to be in the Dragonboat Festival. 4 
  5 
Councilmember Smith 6 
 7 
Councilmember Smith expressed his gratitude to Mr. Skutt in the Building Department. He said 8 
he has had very positive feedback on the department from the local contractors. 9 
 10 
Councilmember Smith said on this day in history in 1881, Kansas became the first state to 11 
prohibit alcohol. 12 
 13 
Mayor Wolfe 14 
 15 
Mayor Wolfe stated he would like to have the opportunity to speak to the Taiwanese officials to 16 
ask them to donate money for the Dragonboat fireworks. He said T.J. Fish of the Chamber has 17 
requested a city competition and he encouraged staff and council to act on the challenge. 18 
 19 
Adjournment 20 
 21 
There was no further business and the meeting was adjourned at 4:57 p.m. 22 
 23 
Respectfully submitted, 24 
 25 
 26 
Nancy A. Barnett, C.M.C. 27 
City Clerk 28 


